
 
STATEMENT OF CULTURAL HERITAGE VALUE 
 
DESCRIPTION 
Municipal Address: 271 Valley Vista Drive (formerly 9740 Bathurst Street) 
 
Legal Description: Part of Lots 19 & 20 Concession 2 Vaughan, described as Parts 18-22, 31- 

33 65R-28521; subject to an easement over Part 20, Plan 65R28531 for 
Parts 2-17, 23-30, 34-49, Plan 65R-28521 & Part 1, Plan 65R-15585 as in 
YR764533; subject to an easement on Part 32, Plan 65R-28521 for Parts 2- 
17, 23-30, 34-39, Plan 65R-28521 as in YR764534; together with an 
easement over Part Lot 19, Concession 2 (Vaughan), described as Parts 24, 
25, 27 & 30, Plan 65R-28521 as in YR764532; together with an easement 
over Part Lots 19 & 20, Concession 2 (Vaughan), described as Parts 2-17, 
23-30, 34-30 all inclusive, Plan 65R-28521 as in YR764532; City of 
Vaughan 

 
Brief description: 1-storey structure built in the Regency Cottage style. 
 
OVERVIEW 
The cultural heritage value of the property known as 271 Valley Vista Drive meets the criteria 
set out by the Ontario Heritage Act under Province of Ontario Regulation 9/06 for the categories 
of design/physical, historical/associative and contextual value. 
 
Name: The Velie-Graham House 
Date Built: circa 1824-29 
Location: south side of Valley Vista Drive between Thomas Cook Avenue and Chaya 

Sara Gardens 
Condition: good 
 
DESIGN OR PHYSICAL VALUE 
Built between 1824-1829, the Velie-Graham House is a 1 storey frame house built in the 
“Regency Cottage” style. This style first emerged in Ontario in the 1780’s along the Lake Ontario 
Loyalist communities from Kingston to Niagara and is typically constructed using found stone (cut 
or natural), brick, wood and stucco. This style is further identified by its low height (one storey) 
hipped roof, and square footprint and its tendency to be situated within a scenic context. It is also 
referenced as the “British Military Bungalow style” in some documents, and such examples often 
refer to the square-built imprint of the structure with low overhanging roofs – both of which were 
part of the house’s history. 
 
John Velie likely came from eastern Ontario where there would have been several examples of 
this popular style. On this site, the house located far back from the Lot and Concession roads 
and is situated next to the stream and woods, on a slight rise in grade that once overlooked the 
fields and countryside. As his father-in-law Peter Frank was a sawyer, and a sawmill was located 
on the property, he likely built the house from the wood he processed on the lot itself. 
 
This 1-storey high, square footprint building is built on a dry-laid stone foundation. It has a central 
hall, with a framed single door with classical surround and sidelights facing to the north and south 
at the ends of a central hall – a feature of this building. On either side of these entrances are 
large windows, forming a central 3-bay form. 
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The oldest photo of this property from 1950 indicates that it had two chimneys on the east and 
west side of the house, long sloping rooflines that connected to a wraparound verandah, with 
multi-pained glass windows. While currently lost, some of these elements could be restored at a 
later time. The south end addition to the house was likely built between 1950 and 1968. 
Both the 1950 and the 1968 photos depict stucco cladding on the house. Recent photos of the 
house indicate this is still the case, but also suggest that there has been a recent re-cladding 
using more modern materials, as made evident by the surviving wooden details around the 
windows and doors. Should the house be further restored, a low impact investigation is 
recommended to determine if earlier layers of stucco are still extant underneath the existing. At 
this time, the current resident of the property is in the process of maintaining and stabilizing the 
house with some interior restoration. No exterior alterations have been proposed. 
 
Outbuildings 
To the west of the 1820’s house are three outbuildings on the property. Immediately to the west 
and situated slightly south is a garage, likely built in the early 1950’s. 
 
Slightly further to the west is a barn featuring a cement foundation and board and batten siding 
with featuring a pronounced extending point off the roof. This is an interesting example of a mid- 
20th century barn, built with contemporary materials but within the existing scale of the other 
buildings on Brook Farm. It has associative value in its context of the evolution of the property 
from a 19th century single family farm to the amalgamation of the farm within the larger Don Head 
farms context. 
 
Further to the west is the oldest surviving outbuilding: a stone foundation with no upper 
structure, in the process of advanced decline. It was already existing on the property in 1936 
when J.D. Patterson acquired the farm. Likely constructed as stables (suggested by the built-up 
terrain on the east edge of the structure – a feature that would have aided in loading hay or other 
materials atop of the sunken-level grade of the stables) with an attached paddock area, this 
structure is not constructed with 20th century building materials, but with local stone. It appears 
to have been in use through the 20th century (the carcass of an old automobile is trapped under 
the rubble) and has only recently fallen into disuse. It has significant cultural heritage value as a 
surviving stone outbuilding from the 19th century development of the farm and requires further 
examination prior to any attempt to demolish or reconstruct the building. 
 
HISTORICAL / ASSOCIATIVE VALUE 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL 
The subject property has associative value due to high archaeological potential. During the 
Block 11 planning process, there were archaeological assessments carried out – but no 
surveying of the existing lands (aside from the existing service pipeline from Thomas Cook 
Avenue and Randolph Drive, north to Valley Vista Road) was carried out for the subject 
property. Despite this, there have been previous findspots on the property documented, and the 
archaeological potential for indigenous and European settlement sites remains high. 
The remaining property area that is to be designated still holds both indigenous and settler 
archaeological potential and should be included as part of the total cultural heritage value of the 
property. Should further expansion of the existing structures be proposed, archaeological review 
shall be required. 



Velie Family 1824-1863 
Lots 19 and 20, Concession 2 were originally awarded to Daniel Cozens in 1798 and it is 
possible that he never saw the subject lands as he was awarded several lots in Vaughan to 
compensate him for the land he lost in New Jersey. Within two years he had sold the lots to 
Joseph Randall for $50, who sold them to Peter Frank (a sawyer/carpenter) and another 
American-by-birth who chose to settle in Vaughan. 
The Ontario Land Titles Historical records notes that Peter Frank sold the east half of the lot in 
1824 to John Velie for £75, but that it was not registered on the land title until 1829. The 1824 
transaction is noted to have taken place in March, about one month before the marriage of his 
daughter Mary Ann Frank to John Velie. The sale was not registered on Title until 1829 which 
was coincidentally the same year that John Velie Junior was born. 
 
In 1829, Peter Frank also sold the west half of Lot 19 to Edward O’Brien, who would go on to 
marry Mary Gapper. For a long time, records of the two properties were mixed-up and it was 
thought that this surviving house belonged to Mary and Edward O’Brien. However, recent research 
has confirmed that the O’Brien house was on the west half of the lot and has since been lost. Mary 
Gapper O’Brien’s published journal does not mention their immediate neighbours by name but 
does describe times when they interacted with various people in the nearby area. Socialization 
between the O’Brien household and the Velie household would have been limited by the O’Briens 
commitment to Thornhill friends and family and likely, by religion – as the Velie, Frank and later 
Graham households are identified in the later census as Methodist or Presbyterian. 
 
Therefore, the existing house currently municipally known as 271 Valley Vista was likely built by 
Velie and possibly his in-laws (the Franks) during the period between 1824 to 1829. The house 
was likely built from the trees on the property (the O’Brien property was already noted to be 
cleared of timber in 1829) and in a simple style called Regency Cottage. The house was set back 
far from lot boundary and access was likely from the 2nd Concession Line now known as Bathurst 
Street and over the small stream on the property. This set back is not unusual for the time and the 
style of cottage, and it is noted in the Gapper O’Brien journals that many houses were initially built 
far into their lots. This custom was changing during Mary Gapper O’Brien’s time in Vaughan and 
there is discussion of construction and development occurring closer to roads in the early 1830’s. 
 
At the time of the 1851 Census, the property featured one storey frame house and a sawmill on the 
stream that was capable of producing in about 51 feet of lumber at a time. The mill may have been 
run together with his father in law Peter Frank, who is listed as a sawyer on the same census. The 
agricultural census also notes that John Velie’s 100-acre lot was producing 200 bushels of wheat 
from 10 acres, with the other 44 acres under cultivation for other crops, pasture and garden. The 
farm also supported 6 dairy cows (200 lbs of butter were noted), 19 sheep and about 20 pigs. 
 
John Velie Junior (born 1829) was farming on the lot 20, directly to the north, demonstrating that 
the family was prosperous enough to purchase additional land. John Velie Junior kept the 
property, even as he became the owner of the Richmond Hill Hotel. While the 1861 census still 
has John Velie and Mary Ann living on Lot 19, in 1864 the Velies sold their house to William 
Graham (for $6800) and moved to into the settlement Richmond Hill. They were also able to 
purchase a lot in town, known municipally as 29 Centre Street W which was designated by the 
Town of Richmond Hill in 1984 (199-84). John and Mary Ann Velie are buried in the Richmond Hill 
Presbyterian Cemetery. 
 
The Velies represent an early settler family that transformed their 100 acres into a farm and mill site 
and their house is a rare surviving example of early settler vernacular architecture that is still in situ. 
 
  



Graham Family 1864-1936 
In 1864, the Velie farm became the Graham Farm when William Graham purchased the 
property. In the 1861 Census, William Graham is identified as born in England and his wife 
Matilda (nee Taylor) was born in Ireland. Lot 20 in the Concession was initially earmarked as 
part of King’s College but it was being lived on by the Graham family in west half and John Velie 
Jr in the East Half by the time of the 1851 Census with all seven members of the Graham family 
living in a log cabin. It is likely that the Graham family and the Velie family were on good terms 
with each other as, both families were Methodists and when William Graham and John Velie had 
the opportunity to purchase their halves of the lot, John Velie Sr was a witness. 
 
Initially, land titles indicate that Lot 19 was supposed to be farmed by William’s son Robert 
Graham, as the land was transferred to him in 1870. The 1871 Census indicates that Robert, his 
wife Mary, and Robert’s brother Joseph were all living on Lot 19 together. By 1875, Joseph 
purchased the farm from his brother and, by the 1878 Tremaine Map publication, is listed as the 
owner. He had married Louisa Frank in 1877 and the Graham family would go on to live in the 
house until 1936, when it was sold to J. D. Patterson by (Joseph) Frank Graham, his son. Under 
the Graham family, the farm grew, and the mill was discontinued, and likely the existing stone 
outbuilding was built during their 73-year tenure and remained in use until the 1990’s – at least 
with a paddock area added mid-century. The 1878 map also indicates that there was an orchard 
established to the southwest of the house but in time that was removed, possibly as the Graham 
family became more known for their livestock. Through the latter half of the 19th century, there are 
citing of Joseph Graham’s farm animals or produce winning awards and being selected for public 
display for provincial events. 
 
Patterson/Don Head Farms/Redelmeier/Southbrook 
In January 1936, J. D. Patterson (son of Peter Patterson) purchased the Graham farm of 100 
acres for $15,000.00. Unusual for Patterson, he granted a mortgage of $6,000.00 to the vendor, 
Joseph Frank Graham, as part payment for the property, and in a letter of understanding he wrote, 
"I hereby undertake not to exercise my right to repay all or part of the principal sum of the said 
mortgage until the same shall become due, or until the death of your mother, Mrs. Louisa Graham, 
whichever event shall come first." In the exchange of letters that followed, Frank Graham 
authorized Patterson to pay his mother, Louisa Graham, all interest payments that became due on 
the mortgage, and Patterson reassured the elderly Louisa Graham that he would not exercise his 
right to repay the principal during her lifetime. The assumption of a mortgage by Patterson, under 
the agreed terms, continued to guarantee Louisa Graham the income that had been secured 
under an agreement with her children and an earlier mortgage assumed by her son Joseph Frank 
in 1913, presumably in consequence of the settlement of her husband's estate. 
 
Upon this purchase, the Velie/Graham farm ceased to be a separate entity and became part of 
Don Head Farms. Within this restructuring, it was renamed “Brook Farm” and the 1820’s house 
became the home of a Don Head Farm employee-family who supervised the farm workings. 
When J.D. Patterson died in 1939, the entirety of Don Head Farms was purchased by the 
Redelmeier family, and it remains in their ownership to this day. “Brook Farm” was later further 
absorbed by the southern farms becoming “Southbrook Farms” in the 1980’s and became the 
namesake for Southbrook Wineries, a VQA Ontario winery. The farm transitioned from livestock 
to produce in the 1970’s and also developed some agritourism events. 
 
Maps of the Don Head farm confirm the location of the house and Graham barn in 1936 and 
1950. Major changes to the house likely happened during this time, as the house added full 
electricity and plumbing utilities. There was also an addition constructed between 1950 to 1968, 
although the verandah and low sloping roof remained in place. An additional barn with cement 
foundation was likely constructed between 1950 and 1954, as it is not present on the 1950 



insurance map. The present garage directly to the southwest of the house was likely built in 
early 1950’s as well. 
 
Municipally, the property became known as 9740 Bathurst Street during this period. It also 
became mistakenly attributed as the “Mary Gapper O’Brien House” by various historians, and 
this error has been reprinted in several books, maps and local histories. However, not only does 
the existing house not meet up with Mary O’Brien’s description of her home with Edward O’Brien, 
but a review of the Ontario Land Titles for this property quickly dismisses this and confirms the 
history of the property as recounted in this Statement. 
In the early 21th century, the City of Vaughan and the Block 11 property owners underwent the 
Block Plan process. This process involved a series of archaeological and heritage assessments 
to assess the properties in Concession 2, Lots 16 to 20, but neither assessment type focused on 
the built heritage, and the archaeological survey stopped just east of the property. With the 
development of the Block 11, there are subdivisions to the east and the west of the property, the 
installation of a sewer pipeline in 2009 from Thomas Cook Avenue to Major Mackenzie Drive 
West and there will be a school to the north eventually. 
 
Since the Block 11 planning process, the house now exists set back far from all streets and 
subdivision, west of the stream the mill once stood on, and buffered by fields and woods. Its 
setback location allows the property to still be considered in a rural context. It continues to be 
occupied and maintained, thus allowing for nearly continuous family occupancy for 200 years and 
associated with the history of the Vaughan and its significant agricultural history. 
 
CONTEXTUAL VALUE 
The contextual value of the subject property is based on the building’s history as one of 
Vaughan’s earliest surviving domestic structures in its original “in situ” location. This is due to its 
original siting far back from the concession road and the lot 25 road to the north and its location 
within the lot on a relatively high point of the land, overlooking the fields and remaining woods. 
There are two explanations for the property’s location: the first is an interesting mention in Mary 
Gapper O’Brien’s journal, noting that many of the earlier houses were set far back from the road, 
particularly outside the settlement area. Several existing heritage homes in Vaughan that exist in 
their original location follow this preference, likely to ensure privacy and relative quiet and dust 
from road traffic. 
 
The second consideration for the location of the house may have arisen out of the architectural 
style it was built in: one of the key considerations of the early Ontario 1-storey cottage builders 
was to ensure that the house’s positioning was picturesque, and both fit into the landscape but 
also provide agreeable views around it. This house was located on a high point but near the 
remaining wooded area and stream. It incorporated large windows to capitalize on this view and 
built so that anyone standing in the central hall would be able to look at the fields in either 
direction from inside the house. John Velie and his bride would have built this house in the 
1820’s not as a temporary log cabin to meet settlement requirements, but as a carefully 
considered construction that allowed them to admire their surroundings and to ensure the house 
emulated the picturesque style in the more settled areas to the south. 
 
The house, barn and stone structure all relate to the property’s evolution and relates to 
Vaughan’s agricultural history. The trees and vistas from the house, particularly to the south over 
the passive parkland provide a glimpse into the pre-contact and historical land features and 
domestic gardening. 
 
  



SUMMARY OF CULTURAL HERITAGE VALUE 
Physical/Design Value 
Contributing 

o Pre-Confederation construction from the 1820’s 
o A representative, rare, surviving non-stone Regency Cottage 
o 1-storey square-built footprint 
o Low hipped roof 
o North and south facing main central doors with classical surrounds and sidelights 
o Interior central hall between the north and south doors 
o Window openings on either side of main doors, forming a 3 bay appearance 
o Stone laid foundation 
o Wood frame construction 
o Mid 20th century barn with cement foundations, board and batten siding and extended 

roof arm 
o Stone outbuilding, using local field stone in its construction, formerly 1 ½ stories, 

 
Historical/Associative Value 

o connection to significant archaeological resources both of early settler and indigenous 
peoples, 

o connection to specific historic settler families such as the Frank family, the early Velie 
family and the Graham family 

o connection to the Patterson and Redelmeier families and their 20th century farming 
practices 

o connection to early Ontario settlers and architectural styles 
o the property has been almost continuous agricultural use since the 1820’s and is still 

used for agricultural crops 
o the remaining archaeological area of potential has not yet been assessed and has 

the potential to yield further information, particularly the area near the waterway  
o the stone outbuilding has the potential to yield further information on the history of 

the property – including use and construction of early agricultural buildings in 
Vaughan 

 
Contextual Value 

o the subject property is linked to the siting of the house and the surrounding woods, 
stream and fields, its location also giving views of the surrounding area, due to the 
natural rise of the land 

o the subject property reflects some of the earliest settler architecture and siting, giving 
insight into settler practices 

o the subject property is contextually linked to Vaughan’s agricultural history from initial 
settlement and land clearing, early 19th farming practices, the evolution from subsistence 
farming to specialization in livestock, back to crop growing and early agritourism in Vaughan 

  



Non-contributing elements 
o The existing garage to the west of the 1820’s dwelling built in the mid-late 20th century 
o The installed sewer line and fields to the west of the sewer line 
o The open field directly to the north of the barns do not have direct heritage value to the 

property, but care should be taken in future development to provide appropriate 
setbacks to the 1820’s dwelling 
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